ADOPTED AT SEPTEMBER 13, 2000 MEETING OF THE KEKAHU FOUNDATION, INC. BOARD OF DIRECTORS, AS AMENDED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AT ITS JUNE 13, 2001 MEETING

BY-LAWS

OF

KEKAHU FOUNDATION, INC.

ARTICLE I

NAME AND OFFICES

- Section 1.1 Name. The name of this non-profit corporation is KEKAHU FOUNDATION, INC.
- Section 1.2 <u>Purpose</u>. The KEKAHU FOUNDATION, INC. is a non-profit corporation established under the laws of the State of Hawaii for the purpose of establishing and developing a community based group for the purpose of instruction in, and dissemination of educational and cultural material in the public interest including, but not limited to, the use of a radio station located in the County of Kauai.
- Section 1.3 Offices. The principal office of the Corporation shall be at such place in the State of Hawaii as the Board of Directors shall from time to time determine. The Corporation may have such other offices within the State of Hawaii as the Board of Directors may designate.
 - Section 1.4 Logo. The Corporation may have an official logo.

ARTICLE II

MEMBERS

- Section 2.1 <u>Classes of Members</u>. The Members of the Corporation shall consist of Voting Members, Subscribing Members, and Ex-Officio Members, all as described in this Article II.
- Section 2.2. <u>Admission of Members</u>. The power to admit and expel Members shall be vested solely in the Board of Directors, according to the provisions, qualifications, and requirements for membership stated in these bylaws.
- Section 2.3 <u>Voting Members</u>. Voting Members shall consist only of the members of the Board of Directors, elected or appointed as these bylaws provide. Upon ceasing to be members of the Board of Directors, such persons shall cease to be Voting Members of the Corporation.

Section 2.4 <u>Subscribing Members</u>. There shall be a class of members to be known as Subscribing Members. Subscribing members shall have no voting rights but shall be entitled to be noticed as to all corporate activities, promotional benefits, promotional gifts and discounts and other special benefits and obligations determined from time to time by the Board of Directors at the annual meeting or any other special meeting called to determine same. Subscribing Members' primary function will be to support the Corporations' activities and fundraising projects. Subscribing Members' names and addresses will be recorded in the records of the Corporation and updated or revised each year. Subscribing Members shall be required to pay dues for each membership year in order to remain a Subscribing Member on the records of the corporation.

Section 2.5 <u>Ex-Officio Members</u>. There shall be class of members known as Ex-Officio Members that shall consist of paid staff members (including but not necessarily limited to the station manager, the program director, and any other senior staff member as may be defined from time to time by the Board of Directors) or such other persons as the Board of Directors shall deem appropriate to be Ex-Officio Members. An ex-officio member shall be entitled to attend all meetings of the Board of Directors for purposes of discussions, making of proposals, devising corporate or program strategy or any other function determined by the Board. An ex-officio member shall have no voting rights and shall not be required to pay dues but shall serve in an advisory capacity to the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE III

MEETINGS OF SUBSCRIBING MEMBERS

Section 3.1 <u>Special Meetings of Subscribing Members</u>. Special meetings of the Subscribing Members may either be called by the Board of Directors or by written demand of not less than thirty-five (35) Subscribing Members, which demand is signed, dated, and delivered to the Secretary of the Corporation and describing the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is to be held. In the latter case, the meeting shall be scheduled within a reasonable time, not to exceed forty-five (45) days, after receipt by the Corporation of the written demand that meets the requirements of this Section. The Board of Directors shall designate any appropriate place within the County of Kauai, State of Hawaii for any special Subscribing Members' meeting. If no designation is made, the place of meeting shall be the principal office of the Corporation.

Section 3.2 <u>Notice of Meetings</u>. The Corporation shall give reasonable notice to the Subscribing Members, as shown on the Corporation's records, of the date, time and place of the special Subscribing Members' meeting at least fourteen (14) days and not more than thirty (30) days prior to the meeting. All notices of meetings shall be given by such means as are reasonably sufficient to give actual notice to the Subscribing Members, which means shall include one or more of the following: (i) first class pre-paid mail to each Subscribing Member's last known mailing address as shown in the Corporation's records; (ii) broadcasting over the Corporation's radio station (unless the station is not then broadcasting); (iii) publication in any newsletter or other regular publication which is published by the Corporation and mailed to Subscribing Members after the meeting has been scheduled but prior to the date of the meeting. All notices shall contain a description of the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called, and at all times that the

Corporation is the recipient of federal or state grant funding, notice of meetings shall meet or exceed the minimum compliance requirements of applicable law.

ARTICLE IV

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section 4.1. Number, Term and Election. The Board of Directors shall consist of not less than seven (7) and not more than fifteen (15) elected members, the precise number to be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors. The term of office for elected Board members shall be three (3) years, commencing at the next regular Board of Directors meeting following the election. Terms of the directors shall be staggered so that one-third (1/3) of the directors, or as close thereto as is practical and equitable, shall be elected by the directors at each annual meeting of the Board of Directors. Each elected director shall hold office until his or her successor is elected and qualified, or until his or her death, resignation or removal. The directors elected at each annual meeting shall be determined by those nominees receiving the highest number of votes at the annual meeting.

Section 4.2 <u>Qualifications</u>. All elected directors shall be Hawaii residents at the time of their election and throughout their term of office. Paid staff members of the Corporation may not be directors.

Section 4.3 <u>Resignations</u>. A director may resign at any time by delivering written notice to the President or Secretary of the Corporation. A resignation shall be effective upon receipt or on such later date as is stated in the written notice. The acceptance of a resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.

Section 4.4 <u>Vacancies</u>. Any permanent vacancy on the Board of Directors caused by death, resignation, removal or other cause may be, but is not required to be, filled by a majority vote of the remaining directors, or by a sole remaining director, and each director so elected shall hold office for the unexpired portion of the term of the director being replaced. In the case of a temporary vacancy due to excused absence, sickness, or disability, the remaining directors, or director, may, but need not, appoint a substitute director who shall be a director during such absence or disability and until the absent or disabled director returns to duty. The determination by the remaining directors, as shown by the minutes, of the fact of such absence or disability and the duration thereof shall be conclusive as to all persons and the Corporation.

Section 4.5 <u>Unexcused Absences</u>. If any director is absent without cause for three (3) or more regular Board meetings during any twelve month period, that director's position shall be deemed vacant. Whether the absence is for cause or not shall be determined by the President or Vice President of the Corporation, which determination may be reversed by the vote of the full Board. After not less than ten (10) days written notice to the absent director, the Board may elect to fill the vacancy pursuant to Section 4.4 above.

- Section 4.6 <u>Removal</u>. Any director may be removed for good cause, as determined by the Board in its reasonable discretion, by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the directors, but only at a regular or special meeting duly noticed and called for the purpose.
- Section 4.7 <u>Reduction</u>. No reduction of the authorized number of directors shall have the effect of removing any director prior to the expiration of his or her term of office.

Section 4.8 Meetings.

- (a) <u>Annual Meeting</u>. The annual meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held in November of each year, for the purposes of electing new directors pursuant to Section 4.1 and transacting such other business as may come before the meeting.
- (b) <u>Regular Meetings</u>. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at dates and times to be determined by the Board of Directors.
- (c) <u>Special Meetings</u>. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the President or any four Board members, and the written notice of any special meeting shall describe the purpose or purposes for which it is to be held.
- (d) <u>Place of Meetings</u>. All Board of Directors meetings shall be held at such place as the Board shall determine, provided that reasonable efforts shall be made to provide adequate seating for members of the public at all open meetings.
- (e) <u>Notice of Meetings</u>. Public notice of all meetings of the Board of Directors shall be given not less than seven (7) days nor more than thirty (30) days prior to the meeting date, and at all times that the Corporation is the recipient of federal or state grant funding, notice of Board meetings shall meet or exceed the minimum compliance requirements of applicable law.
- (f) <u>Quorum</u>. A quorum for the transaction of business at a Board meeting shall consist of a majority of the number of directors then entitled to vote. A majority of the directors present at any meeting at which a quorum is present shall constitute the act of the Board, unless a greater vote is required by the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, or statute. A quorum shall not be necessary to adjourn a meeting.
- (g) Open Meetings. With the exceptions stated herein, the Board of Directors and its committees shall hold open meetings preceded by reasonable notice to the public. However, the Board or its committees may hold closed meetings or sessions to consider matters relating to personnel matters, individual employees, proprietary information, litigation, and other matters requiring the confidential advise of counsel, commercial or financial information obtained from a person on a privileged or confidential basis, or the purchase of property or services whenever the premature exposure of such purchase would compromise the business interests of the Corporation. The Executive

Committee may also act by polling its members. If any such meeting is closed pursuant to this provision, the reasons for doing so shall be stated in the Board or committee minutes and, if reasonably possible, in the notice of the meeting.

- (h) <u>Presumption of Assent</u>. A director who is present at a meeting of the Board at which an action on any corporate matter is taken shall be presumed to have assented to the action taken unless the director's dissent or refusal to vote is entered in the minutes of the meeting or unless the director either files a written dissent to such action before the adjournment thereof or forwards such dissent by mail to the Secretary of the Corporation within two (2) business days after the adjournment of the meeting. Such right to dissent shall not apply to a director who voted in favor of such action.
- Section 4.9 <u>Compensation of Directors</u>. No director shall receive any salary or other compensation for his or her services as a director. Directors may be reimbursed for Board-approved expenses or costs incurred while acting on behalf of the Corporation or the Board.
- Section 4.10 <u>Proxies</u>. At all meetings of the Board of Directors, a Director may vote in person or by proxy executed in writing by the Director. Such proxy shall be filed with the President or the Recording Secretary of the Corporation before or at the time of the meeting. No proxy shall be valid after eleven months from the date of its execution, unless otherwise provided in the proxy.

ARTICLE V

POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

- Section 5.1. <u>General Powers</u>. All corporate powers shall be exercised by or under the authority of, and the affairs of the Corporation managed under the direction of, the Board of Directors.
- Section 5.2. <u>Specific Powers</u>. In addition to all powers enumerated in the Hawaii Nonprofit Corporation Act, or any successor law, and without prejudice to the general powers stated in the preceding Section 5.1, it is hereby expressly declared that the Board of Directors shall have the following powers, to wit:
 - (a) To adopt and alter a common seal of the Corporation;
- (b) To make and change regulations, not inconsistent with these Bylaws, for the management of the Corporation's business and affairs;
- (c) To purchase, pay for, or otherwise acquire for the Corporation any real or personal property, rights, interests, or privileges which are consistent with the Corporation's purposes;

- (d) To borrow money and to make and issue notes, bonds and other negotiable and transferable instruments, mortgages, deeds of trust and trust agreements and to do every act and things necessary to effectuate the same;
- (e) To remove any officer with or without cause and, in their discretion, from time to time, to devolve the powers and duties of any officer upon any other person for the time being;
- (f) To appoint and remove or suspend such subordinate officers or agents as it may deem necessary, to determine their duties, to fix, and from time to time change, their salaries or remuneration, and to require security as and when they think fit;
- (g) To confer upon any officer of the Corporation the power to appoint, remove and suspend subordinate officers or agents;
- (h) To determine who shall be authorized on the Corporation's behalf to make and sign bills, notes, acceptances, endorsements, checks, releases, receipts, contracts and other instruments:
- (i) To determine who shall be entitled to vote in the name and behalf of the Corporation, upon, or to assign and transfer, any shares of stock, bonds or other securities of other corporations held by this Corporation;
- (j) To delegate any of the powers of the board in relation to the ordinary business of the Corporation to any standing of special committee, or to any officer or agent (with power to subdelegate) upon such terms as they think fit;
- (k) To call special meetings of the Subscribing Members for any purpose or purposes.

ARTICLE VI

OFFICERS

Section 6.1 <u>Number</u>. The officers of the Corporation shall be the President, Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer and such other officers as may be elected by the Board of Directors at the annual meeting of the Board of Directors or any subsequent meeting called for that purpose. Except for the President, a person may hold any two offices at the direction of the Board of Directors. All officers must be members of the Board of Directors.

Section 6.2 <u>Election and Term of Office</u>. All officers shall be elected by the Board of Directors at the Board meeting following the annual Board meeting and shall serve for one (1) year terms or until their successors are elected. All officers shall be subject to removal at any time without cause by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors, in its discretion, may elect acting or temporary officers, may elect officers to fill vacancies occurring for any reason whatsoever, and may limit or enlarge the duties and powers of any officer elected by it.

Section 6.3 <u>President</u>. The President shall be the principal executive officer of the Corporation and shall in general supervise and control all of the business and affairs of the Corporation. The President shall preside at all meetings of the Subscribing Members and Board of Directors; shall have power to call special meetings of the directors for any purpose or purposes; shall, subject to the approval of the directors, appoint and discharge employees and agents of this Corporation and fix their compensation; shall see that the books, reports, statements and certificates required by law are properly kept, made and filed according to law; and shall generally do and perform all acts incident to the office of President, or which are authorized or required by applicable law.

Section 6.4 <u>Vice President</u>. In the absence, disability or refusal to act by the President, the Vice President shall perform all of the duties of the President, and when so acting shall have all powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the President. The Vice President shall have such powers and perform such other duties as from time to time may be prescribed by the President, the Board of Directors or the Bylaws.

Section 6.5 Secretary. The Secretary shall keep the minutes of all meetings of the Subscribing Members, the Board of Directors, and committees; shall keep or cause to be kept a register showing the names of the Voting Members, Subscribing Members, Ex-Officio Members, directors and officers with their addresses; shall give notice in conformity with the Bylaws of all meetings of the Members, the Board of Directors, and committees; shall conduct and keep the official correspondence of the Corporation as directed by the Board or officers; and shall perform all other duties assigned by the President or the Board of Directors. The Secretary shall have the custody of the seal of the corporation and shall affix the same to all instruments requiring it when authorized by the directors or the President.

Section 6.6 <u>Treasurer</u>. The Treasurer shall have the custody of all funds, securities, evidence of indebtedness and other similar documents of the Corporation; shall receive and give or cause to be given receipts for moneys paid in on account of the Corporation and shall pay out of the funds on hand all just debts of the Corporation of whatever nature upon authority of the same; shall enter or cause to be entered in the books of the Corporation to be kept for that purpose full and accurate accounts of all moneys received and paid out on account of the Corporation, and, whenever required by the President or the directors, shall render a statement of cash accounts; shall keep or cause to be kept such books as will show a true record of the expense, losses, gains, assets and liabilities of the Corporation; shall, unless otherwise determined by the directors, have charge of the original membership books of the Corporation; and shall perform all of the other duties incident to the office of Treasurer. When required by the directors, the Treasurer

shall give the Corporation a bond for the faithful discharge of his or her duties in such amount and with such surety as the Board of Directors shall prescribe.

Section 6.7 <u>Other Officers</u>. The Board of Directors may appoint such other officers and agents as it shall deem necessary or expedient, who shall hold their offices for such terms and shall exercise such powers and perform such duties as shall be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors.

Section 6.8 <u>Temporary Absence or Inability</u>. In the case of absence or temporary inability to act of any officer of the Corporation or of any person herein authorized to act in the officer's place, the Board of Directors may from time to time delegate the powers or duties of such officer to any other officer, or any director or other person whom it may select.

Section 6.9 <u>Permanent Vacancy</u>. Any permanent vacancy in any office shall be filled by the Board of Directors at the first meeting following the vacancy for the unexpired portion of the term.

Section 6.10 <u>Resignation</u>. An officer may resign at any time by delivering written notice to the Corporation.

Section 6.11 <u>Salaries and Expenses</u>. All officers shall serve in their capacities as officers without salary or other compensation. Expenses incurred in connection with the performance of an officer's official duties may be reimbursed upon approval of the Board of Directors or the Executive Committee.

ARTICLE VII

COMMITTEES

Section 7.1 <u>Committees</u>. The Board of Directors may create and appoint one or more committees of the Board, each of which shall consist of two or more directors and such other persons as may be included pursuant to Section 7.4 below, which shall exercise the authority of the Board of Directors in the management of the Corporation, except that a committee of the Board may not authorize expenditures of Corporation funds; approve or recommend to Members the dissolution or merger of the Corporation, or the sale, pledge, or transfer of all or substantially all of the Corporation's assets; elect, appoint, or remove directors or fill vacancies on the Board or on any of its committees; or recommend to the Members the adoption, amendment, or repeal of the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws.

Section 7.2 <u>Executive Committee</u>. There shall be an Executive Committee consisting of the President, the Treasurer, and at least one other Board member appointed by the Board of Directors. The Executive Committee shall have and exercise the authority of the Board to act on matters which must be decided before the next regular meeting of the Board of Directors but do not merit a special meeting of the Board of Directors.

- Section 7.3 <u>Nominating Committee</u>. There shall be a Nominating Committee consisting of not less than two Board members and not less than one other Member of the Corporation who is not a director, all of whom shall be appointed by the Board of Directors. The Nominating Committee shall advise the Board of Directors regarding nominations for Board elections and filling Board vacancies; shall present nominations to the Board of Directors at the annual Board of Directors meeting; and shall otherwise ensure that the requirements of these Bylaws regarding Board elections are carried out.
- Section 7.4 Other Committees. There shall be such other committees as the Board of Directors, from time to time, may create. The chairperson of each such committee shall be a member of the Board of Directors, but members of each committee may include persons who are not Board members. The membership of each committee shall be approved by the Board of Directors, and vacancies on any committee shall be filled by the Board of Directors from time to time as they occur.
- Section 7.5 Quorum. A majority of the members of a committee shall constitute a quorum. Any transaction of a committee shall require a majority vote of any quorum present at any meeting. Each member of a committee, including the person presiding at the meeting, shall be entitled to one vote.
- Section 7.6 <u>Meetings</u>. Committees shall meet at the call of the chairperson at such place as he or she shall designate after reasonable notice has been given to each committee member and the public pursuant to Article IV, Section 4.8(e). Unless a meeting is allowed to be closed pursuant to Article IV, Section 4.8(g) of these Bylaws, all committee meetings shall be open to the public. Each committee shall keep minutes of its proceedings and make a written report to the Board of Directors of the committee's actions at the next following regular Board meeting.
- Section 7.7 <u>Term of Office</u>. Board members shall be appointed to committees annually by the Board of Directors at its first meeting after the annual meeting. All other committee members may continue as committee members until they resign, are removed, or miss three or more meetings during any twelve-month period without good cause as determined by the committee.
- Section 7.8 <u>Chairperson</u>. One member of each committee who is also a member of the Board of Directors shall be elected chairperson by the members of the committee.
- Section 7.9 <u>Removal of Committee Members</u>. The Board of Directors may remove a member or members of any committee at any time, with or without cause.

ARTICLE VIII

FUNDS AND CONTRACTS

- Section 8.1 <u>Disbursements</u>. Disbursements of the funds of the Corporation related to the purposes for which it is organized may be made by the Board of Directors in its discretion or by such directors, officers, or staff members as the Board of Directors may designate.
- Section 8.2 <u>Limitations on Disbursements</u>. The Board of Directors shall not make any disbursements or contributions of the funds or assets of the Corporation to or for the benefit, directly or indirectly, of any Member, director, officer or employee of the Corporation, except for reasonable payments for services actually rendered to the Corporation by such Member, director, officer or employee.
- Section 8.3 <u>Handling of Funds</u>. All checks, drafts, or other orders for payment of money, notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of or payable by the Corporation shall be signed by such officer or officers, agent or agents of the Corporation, and in such manner, as shall from time to time be determined by resolution of the Board of Directors. Where other provision has not been made by resolution of the Board of Directors, all checks, drafts, notes, bonds, and instruments shall be signed, executed and delivered by the President or the Vice-President, and by the Treasurer or the Secretary.
- Section 8.4 <u>Deposits</u>. All funds of the Corporation shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the Corporation in such banks, trust companies, or other depositories as the Board of Directors may designate.
- Section 8.5 Execution of Contracts. The Board of Directors may authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents, to enter into any contract or execute any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation, and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances; and unless so authorized by the Board of Directors, no officer, agent or employee shall have any power or authority to bind the Corporation by any contract or engagement or to pledge its credits or to render it liable for any purpose or to any amount. Where other provision has not been made by resolution of the Board of Directors, all acceptances, deeds, lease, contracts and all other documents and instruments shall be signed, executed and delivered by the President or the Vice-President, and by the Treasurer or the Secretary.

ARTICLE IX

INDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

Section 9.01 Indemnification by Corporation.

(a) For the purposes of this Section 9.01, "agent" means any person who is or was a director, officer, employee, or other agent of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another foreign or domestic corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, or was a director, officer, employee or agent of a foreign or domestic corporation which was a

predecessor corporation of the Corporation or of another enterprise at the request of such predecessor corporation; "proceeding" means any threatened, pending or completed action or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative; and "expenses" includes, without limitation, attorneys' fees, any expenses of a completed action or proceeding, and any expenses of establishing a right to indemnification under subsection (d) or (e) of this Section 9.01.

- (b) Subject to any limitations contained in the Hawaii Nonprofit Corporation Act, the Corporation shall have the power to indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any proceeding (other than an action by or in the right of the Corporation) by reason of the fact that such person is or was an agent of the Corporation, against expenses, judgments, fines, settlements and other amounts actually and reasonably incurred in connection with such proceeding if the person acted in good faith and in a manner the person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation and, with respect to any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe the conduct of the person was unlawful. The termination of any proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the person did not act in good faith and in a manner which the person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation or that the person had reasonable cause to believe that the person's conduct was unlawful.
- (c) The Corporation shall have power to indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action by or in the right of the Corporation to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that the person is or was an agent of the Corporation, against expenses actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with the defense or settlement of such action if such person acted in good faith, in a manner such person believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation. No indemnification shall be made under this subsection (c) in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which the person shall have been adjudged to be liable for negligence or misconduct in the performance of the person's duty to the Corporation, unless and only to the extent that the court in which the action or suit was brought shall determine upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability but in view of all the circumstances of the case, the person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for the expenses which the court shall deem proper.
- (d) To the extent that an agent of the Corporation has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any proceeding referred to in subsection (b) or (c) above, or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, the agent shall be indemnified by the Corporation against expenses actually and reasonably incurred by the agent in connection therewith.
- (e) Except as provided in subsection (d) above, any indemnification under this Section 9.01 shall be made by the Corporation only as authorized in the specific case

upon a determination that indemnification of the agent is proper in the circumstances because the agent has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in subsection (b) or (c). The determination shall be made:

- (1) By the Board of Directors by a majority vote of a quorum consisting of Directors who were not parties to the proceeding; or
- (2) If a quorum is not obtainable, by independent legal counsel in a written opinion; or
 - (3) By the Members then qualified to vote; or
- (4) By the court in which the proceeding is or was pending upon application made by the Corporation or the agent or the attorney or other person rendering services in connection with the defense, whether or not the application by the agent, attorney or other person is opposed by the Corporation.
- (f) No indemnification or advance shall be made under this Section 9.01, except as provided in subsection (d) or subsection (e)(2) above, in any circumstance where it appears that:
 - (1) It would be inconsistent with a provision of the Articles of Incorporation, the Bylaws or an agreement in effect at the time of the occurrence of the alleged cause of action asserted in the proceeding in which the expenses were incurred or other amounts were paid, which prohibits or otherwise limits indemnification; or
 - (2) It would be inconsistent with any condition expressly imposed by a court in approving a settlement.

Section 9.02 <u>Advancing Expenses</u>. The Corporation may advance to each agent the expenses incurred in defending any proceeding referred to in Section 9.01 of these Bylaws prior to the final disposition of such proceeding upon receipt of any undertaking by or on behalf of the agent to repay such amount unless it shall be determined ultimately that the agent is entitled to be indemnified as authorized in Section 9.01 of these Bylaws.

Section 9.03 <u>Insurance</u>. The Corporation shall have power to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any agent of the Corporation against any liability asserted against or incurred by the agent in such a capacity or arising out of the agent's status as such, whether or not the corporation would have the power to indemnify the agent against such liability under the provisions of the section.

ARTICLE X

RECORDS

Section 10.1 <u>Corporate Records</u>. The Corporation shall maintain the following records on a permanent basis, and shall keep a copy of the same for inspection according to the terms of these Bylaws: the Articles of Incorporation, including all restatements and amendments to them currently in effect; the Bylaws, including all restatements and amendment to them currently in effect; minutes of all meetings of its Members and all open meetings of the Board of Directors; a record of all actions taken by committees of the Board of Directors; resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors relating to the characteristics, qualifications, rights, limitations, and obligations of Members; a record of its Members in a form that permits preparation of a list of the name and mailing address of all Members in alphabetical order; a list of the names and mailing addresses of its current directors and officers; the last three (3) annual financial statements and accountant's reports; any annual or other financial reports or statements filed by the Corporation with the Corporation for Public Broadcasting; and the most recent annual report delivered to the State of Hawaii Department of Commerce and Consumer Affairs as required by Hawaii law. All books and records shall remain the property of the Corporation.

Section 10.2 <u>Inspection of Records By Members</u>. Subject to the provisions of this Article X, any Member shall be entitled to inspect and copy, at a reasonable time and location specified by the Corporation, and at a reasonable cost for copying as stated in Section 10.3, any of the records of the corporation kept for inspection described in Section 10.1 above, if the Member gives the Corporation written notice of the Member's demand at least five business days before the date on which the Member wishes to inspect and copy.

Section 10.3 <u>Scope of Inspection Right</u>. A Member's agent or attorney shall have the same inspection and copying rights as the Member who the agent or attorney represents. The right to copy records under Section 10.2 includes, if reasonable, the right to receive copies. The Corporation may impose a reasonable charge, covering the costs of labor and material, for copies of any documents provided to the Member, or the Member's agent or attorney. The charge shall not exceed the estimated cost of production or copying of the records. The Corporation may comply with a Member's demand to inspect the membership list under Section 10.2 by providing the Member with a list of its members that was compiled as of the date of the Member's demand.

Section 10.4 <u>Limitations on Use of Membership List</u>. Without the consent of the Board of Directors, a membership list or any part of a membership list may not be obtained or used by an person for any purpose unrelated to a Member's interest as a Member of the Corporation, including but not limited to the following: soliciting money or property unless such money or property will be used solely to benefit the Corporation; any commercial purpose; selling or purchasing goods, services, or property by any person; or selling or purchasing the list or any part thereof by any person or organization for a purpose or purposes not directly related to the business or affairs of the Corporation. As a condition to making the membership list available for inspection or copying, the Corporation may require a written and signed statement from the person requesting the list as to the purpose of the request, and if in the reasonable determination of the Corporation's staff the person's stated purpose is not consistent with this Article X, the request may be denied. Any denial of a request for inspection or copying may be appealed to the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE XI

COMMUNITY ADVISORY BOARD

There shall be a Community Advisory Board, which shall act in an advisory capacity to the Board of Directors in matters related to the governance, activities, and policies of the Corporation. The Board of Directors shall select the initial members of the Community Advisory Board, but thereafter the members of the Community Advisory Board shall be selected according to such rules and procedures as the Community Advisory Board shall determine. The Community Advisory Board shall establish its own governing rules and procedures.

ARTICLE XII

AMENDMENTS TO BYLAWS

These bylaws may be altered, amended, revised or repealed, and new bylaws may be adopted, by an affirmative vote of not less than two-thirds (2/3) of all members of the Board of Directors who are then in office, such vote to be taken at a regular or special meeting of the Board called for the purpose.

ARTICLE XIII

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 13.1 <u>Fiscal Year</u>. The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be the calendar year.

Section 13.2 <u>Corporate Seal</u>. If a corporate seal is authorized by the directors, it shall be circular in form and shall contain the name of the Corporation, the date of its creation, and the words: "INCORPORATED STATE OF HAWAII". The seal may be used by causing it or a facsimile thereof to be impressed, affixed or reproduced.

Section 13.3 <u>Rules of Order</u>. The affairs of the Corporation shall be conducted by Robert's Rules of Order, as amended, so far as applicable and except as may be otherwise provided by the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, or any resolution of the Board of Directors. When the President or other presiding officer determines that meeting participants prefer action by consensus, it shall be allowed provided that no Member (in the case of membership meetings) or director (in the case of Board of Directors meetings) specifically requests a formal vote.

Section 13.4 <u>Nondiscriminatory Policy</u>. The Corporation supports a non-discriminatory policy in all aspects of its operation and activity. The Corporation, Board of

Directors, and staff shall be prohibited from pursuing any practice or activity that discriminates against any person based upon his or her race, sex, sexual orientation, age, religion, color, ancestry, disability, marital status, or arrest and court record.

END OF BYLAWS